THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge
NOV 29 2012

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2012-210888

Ex parte TLC Laser Eye Centers (Piedmont/Atlanta) LLC;
TLC The Laser Center (Institute), Inc. Appellants,

In re:

John Hollman Respondent,

v.

Dr. Jonathan Woolfson, Individually;
Dr. Michael A. Campbell, Individually;
Optical Solutions, Inc.; and Optical
Solutions of Bluffton, LLC Defendants.

Danielle Hollman Respondent,

v.

Dr. Jonathan Woolfson, Individually;
Dr. Michael A. Campbell, Individually;
Optical Solutions, Inc.; and Optical

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court erred in determining that it had been divested of subject matter jurisdiction to enforce one of its own protective orders by the settlement and dismissal of the underlying litigation, where the need to protect confidential information was continuing, the party seeking to enforce the protective order was a third-party intervenor, and the intervenor was not involved in the settlement or dismissal.
2. Whether the circuit court erred in failing to interpret the protective order of November 14, 2008 according to its plain, unambiguous meaning and/or in failing to give effect to every relevant provision, including but not necessarily limited to the following:
 - a. By failing to conclude that the protective order applies to “Confidential Health Information,” as that term is defined, as well as to information based on, containing, or derived therefrom; and/or,
 - b. By failing to conclude that Respondents’ counsel has violated the prohibitions of the protective order against using and/or disclosing protected information for any purpose other than the case in which the order was issued, by using protected information to bring a federal class action lawsuit against Appellants (as well as other subsequent litigation), and/or by disclosing protected information to unauthorized recipients.
3. Whether the circuit court erred in issuing orders prepared by Respondents’ counsel that contained material, prejudicial “findings of fact” and/or “conclusions of law” which are not supported by the record and were never adjudicated by the court.
4. Whether the circuit court erred in concluding that there were no violations of the protective order of November 14, 2008 which could have supported Appellants’ motion for an order and rule to show cause filed in July 2010.
5. Whether the circuit court erred in concluding that the 2010 settlement agreement between Appellants and Respondents limited in any way Appellants’ ability to seek enforcement of the protective order of November 14, 2008.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2007, Respondents filed a medical malpractice action against Appellants (hereinafter referred to as “TLC”) arising out of three LASIK eye surgeries performed on John Hollman during 1999 and 2001.¹ It was alleged that these surgeries caused Hollman to develop “ectasia.” During the litigation, TLC was required to produce certain confidential, sensitive, and proprietary information to Respondents, consisting of treatment records of non-party patients, as well as a database of patient information that was intended for TLC’s internal uses only under the administration of its general counsel. The non-party patient treatment records and database were produced to Respondents under a protective order, which prohibits the use and disclosure of protected information for any purpose other than Hollman.² The critical issue in this appeal involves Respondents’ counsel’s compliance with the protective order.

In May 2010, TLC entered into a settlement agreement with Respondents and was subsequently dismissed from the litigation. However, in July 2010, TLC became a third-party intervenor in Hollman for the limited, collateral purpose of enforcing the protective order. This was necessary because Respondents’ counsel had used, and was continuing to use, protected information in furtherance of a separate class action against TLC, and had disclosed protected information to unauthorized recipients.

¹ More precisely, there were two lawsuits. One was filed by Respondent John Hollman, C.A. 2007–CP–23–2347; the other, by Respondent Danielle Hollman, C.A. 2007–CP–23–8364. Respondent John Hollman’s claim consisted of actions for negligence, battery, breach of contract, and fraud. Mrs. Hollman’s claim was for loss of consortium. These actions were never formally consolidated in the circuit court; however, discovery was pursued on a consolidated basis, and the orders at issue in this appeal feature a consolidated caption.

² As it is used herein, the term “protected information” describes any “Confidential Health Information” that was disclosed under the Protective Order of November 14, 2008, as well as any information based on, containing, or derived therefrom.

Since then, Respondents' counsel has filed two additional medical negligence lawsuits on behalf of two new plaintiffs against TLC, both of which are based on protected information. Respondents' counsel is actively using protected information obtained in the course of Hollman in furtherance of these new cases, specifically to attain an advantage in discovery and dispositive motions.

To enforce the protective order against Respondents' counsel's unauthorized use and disclosure of protected information, on July 8, 2010, TLC intervened in Hollman and filed a motion for an order and rule to show cause. However, by order dated August 17, 2010, the circuit court held that protected information consisted only of health information coupled with patient identity. This was a novel construction of the protective order which was not only contrary to its plain language, but which resulted in substantially diminished protection for TLC and its patients. Consequently, the court held that Respondents' counsel had not violated the protective order, and TLC's motion for an order and rule to show cause was denied.

On September 2, 2010, TLC filed a motion for reconsideration. A hearing on the motion was held on November 23, 2010, at which time the court indicated that the motion would be denied and instructed Respondents' counsel to prepare an order. In May 2011, Respondents and the remaining Defendants (not including TLC as third-party intervenor) entered into a settlement agreement which resolved all remaining merits-based claims. In late September 2011, TLC filed a motion requesting the preparation of an order on the motion for reconsideration, which had still not been done. On January 12, 2012, TLC's motion was denied on the basis of lack of subject matter jurisdiction. TLC promptly filed a motion for reconsideration, which was

denied by order dated March 2, 2012. TLC's notice of appeal, pertaining to the orders of August 17, 2010, January 12, 2012, and March 2, 2012, was filed on April 2, 2012.

Critically, this appeal does not involve any issues pertaining to the merits of the underlying Hollman litigation. Instead, the fundamental questions are whether the court had continuing jurisdiction to enforce the protective order after the 2011 settlement and dismissal, whether the court misconstrued the protective order, and whether the court erred in concluding that Respondents' counsel had not violated the protective order. These issues are collateral to the merits of the Hollman litigation.³

For the reasons set out below, TLC respectfully requests that the circuit court's order denying the existence of subject matter jurisdiction to enforce the protective order be reversed. TLC also requests that the court's order regarding the construction of the protective order, which holds that there was no violation by the unauthorized use and disclosure of protected information, be modified to conclude that Respondents' counsel's use and disclosure of protected information was a material breach of the order. Finally, TLC requests that certain material "findings of fact" and "conclusions of law" set out in the orders of August 17, 2010 and January 12, 2012, which are material, improper, and prejudicial to TLC, be vacated.

³ This appeal also involves the propriety of including material "findings of fact" and "conclusions of law" in an order where no such findings and conclusions were made or are supported by the record.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of three LASIK eye surgeries performed on Respondent John Hollman in 1999 and 2001.⁴ The first two surgeries were performed on July 8, 1999 and November 22, 1999 at Appellants' facility in Greenville, South Carolina. A third procedure was performed on June 26, 2001 in Atlanta, Georgia. In 2007, Hollman brought a medical negligence action against TLC, Dr. Woolfson (the ophthalmologist who performed Hollman's LASIK eye surgery), and Dr. Campbell (the independent optometrist who treated Hollman)⁵ in which it was alleged that, as a result of the surgeries, Hollman had developed a condition known as "ectasia."⁶ Hollman also brought a cause of action against TLC for fraud. His theory was that TLC knew or should have known that LASIK eye surgeries were contraindicated for patients with ocular topographies like his, specifically because of the risk associated with developing post-surgical complications, but that TLC was motivated by financial interests to disregard those risks. Furthermore, it was alleged that after the appearance of post-surgical complications, TLC deliberately misled Hollman into believing his condition was or would become treatable, specifically so that he would not pursue litigation.

⁴ The term "LASIK" is an acronym for the medical procedure known as "laser-assisted in situ keratomileusis," a form of refractive eye surgery which uses an excimer laser to reshape the structure of a patient's cornea. LASIK eye surgery can be an effective treatment for myopia and astigmatism, and presents a practical alternative to traditional forms of vision correction, such as eyeglasses and contact lenses.

⁵ Because these proceedings involve issues which are collateral to the merits of the underlying litigation, Dr. Woolfson and Dr. Campbell are not involved in this appeal.

⁶ As it is used in the Complaint, the term "ectasia" describes the condition where an individual's cornea experiences progressive destabilization, which results in diminishing visual acuity.

In 2008, Respondents served discovery requests seeking the production of Hollman's medical chart and the charts of other patients who were not parties to the action, but who had ocular topographies like Hollman's or who had reported complaints following their surgeries. Respondents also sought the production of a proprietary database, which contained not only information taken from TLC's patient charts, but also information collected for TLC's internal purposes under the administration of its general counsel.⁷ TLC did not believe that third-party confidential health information was discoverable since such information was neither relevant nor necessary to Respondents' claims.⁸ Furthermore, TLC did not believe that the database or its contents was discoverable pursuant to the work product doctrine, the privilege for attorney/client communications, the protection for self-critical analysis, and the legitimate purposes of TLC's risk management and legal interests, as well as other similar uses. TLC was also concerned that Respondents or their counsel would use this information to contact third-party patients. Accordingly, for all these reasons, TLC objected to the production of the database and third-party medical charts, which caused Respondents to file a motion to compel.

A hearing on Respondents' motion was held on June 30, 2008, at which time the court ordered TLC to produce all responsive information, including the database, for in camera inspection.⁹ Before the circuit court had ruled on the first motion to

⁷ Affidavit of Brian Andrew, TLC's General Counsel, May 7, 2008 (R. p. 874).

⁸ Hr'g Tr. 6-8, 39-42 June 30, 2008 (R. pp. 313-15, 327-30) (hereinafter referred to as "June 2008 Tr."); Hr'g Tr. 6-20, Oct. 14, 2008 (R. pp. 332-46) (hereinafter referred to as "Oct. 2008 Tr."); Hr'g Tr. 21-25, 47-54, May 14, 2009 (R. pp. 348-52, 353-60) (hereinafter referred to as "May 2009 Tr.").

⁹ June 2008 Tr. 39-42 (R. pp. 327-30).

compel, a second motion to compel was filed which sought the production of additional “medical records of all other ectasia patients of the Piedmont TLC facility.”¹⁰ A hearing on the second motion was held on October 14, 2008, at which time the court took the matter under advisement. On November 14, 2008, both motions to compel were granted.¹¹ However, in conjunction with the order granting the motions to compel, the court also issued a Protective Order, which provides in relevant part:

The Court hereby prohibits the dissemination of Confidential Health Information beyond the parameters established by this Order or use of Confidential Health Information for any purpose other than the prosecution or defense of this litigation.

1. This Stipulation and Protective Order shall apply to all information or discovery materials produced by any party or their agents during the course of discovery in this action, all information derived therefrom, and extracts, copies, excerpts, or summaries thereof

2. The term “Confidential Health Information,” means . . . any document or information supplied that identifies an individual or subscriber in any manner and relates to the past, present, or future payment for the provision of health care to such individual or subscriber. The term “Confidential Health Information” specifically includes “protected health information” as such term is defined by the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45 CFR parts 160 and 164, promulgated pursuant to the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996. See 45 C.F.R.

¹⁰ Order Granting Resp’ts Mot. Compel, Nov. 14, 2008 (R. p. 1).

¹¹ Although Respondents’ counsel has repeatedly claimed that TLC waived all objections to producing database information other than work product, this assertion is simply not supported by the record. TLC’s objections were made to the court, given due consideration, and overruled. (June 2008 Tr. 6–8, 39–42 (R. pp. 313–15, 327–30); Oct. 2008 Tr. 6–20 (R. pp. 332–46); see also May 2009 Tr. 21–25, 47–54 (R. pp. 348–52, 353–60).) Accordingly, while the court was concerned only with protecting patient privacy rights, at all relevant times, TLC has been concerned with protecting not only patient privacy, but also its own rights and privileges against disclosing information that is sensitive, proprietary, and confidential. Those objections are based on the privilege for attorney/client communications, the protections of the work product doctrine, the privileges for self-critical analysis, and the protection for confidential business information and third-party medical records.

sections 164.501 (“protected health information”) and 160.103 (“individually identifiable health information”). **“Confidential Health Information” includes all notes, summaries, compilations, extracts, abstracts, or oral communications that contain, are based on, or are derived from Confidential Health Information. . . .**

8. Except as may be provided by subsequent Order of this Court: **1) Confidential Health Information shall be used for no purpose other than this litigation; 2) No person who receives, pursuant to this or other Orders of this Court, Confidential Health Information concerning persons who are not parties to the captioned lawsuits (hereinafter “Third Parties”) shall directly or indirectly contact or attempt contact with Third Parties or their medical providers**¹²

Soon after the entry of the Protective Order on November 14, 2008, TLC produced the information required by the order granting Respondents’ motion to compel, including third-party treatment records and the patient database.

On February 17, 2009, Respondents filed a motion to modify the Protective Order to allow their counsel to contact and interview patients who were identified by the protected information that TLC had been forced to disclose. Specifically, Respondents’ counsel sought permission to discuss the Hollmans’ lawsuit against TLC, “as well as the patient’s own experience if they so choose.” By order dated April 17, 2009, Respondents’ motion was granted.¹³

On May 6, 2009, TLC filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Supreme Court asking the Court to exercise its original jurisdiction on the basis of exceptional

¹² Protective Order, Nov. 14, 2008, 4–5, 8 (R. pp. 28–29, 32) (hereinafter referred to as “Prot. Order”) (emphasis added).

¹³ (Order Granting Resp’ts Mot. Mod. Prot. Order, Apr. 21, 2009 (R. p. 37).) Respondents’ counsel immediately began contacting third-party patients, and in fact, successfully contacted fifteen. (See Affidavits of Douglas F. Patrick, Esq. (R. p. 876), Stephen R.H. Lewis, Esq. (R. p. 879), and James W. Fayssoux, Jr., Esq. (R. p. 882), May 6, 2009.) TLC has no information whether Charles Benjamin Dickerson and/or Michael “Chad” Luce were among those fifteen initial contacts.

circumstances and review the circuit court's decision of April 17. The petition was granted, and by decision dated May 28, 2009, the Supreme Court reversed the April 17 order and remanded the case for further proceedings to determine if the information to be gained from interviewing third-party patients was relevant and necessary to Respondents' claims.¹⁴

By supplemental order dated July 7, 2009, the circuit court found that the information to be gained from such interviews was "highly relevant" and necessary to Respondents' claims,¹⁵ prompting TLC to file a second petition for writ of certiorari on July 16, 2009. The petition was granted, and by decision dated September 21, 2009, the circuit court's orders of April 21 and July 7 were vacated. Hollman v. Woolfson, 384 S.C. 571, 683 S.E.2d 495 (2009). In no uncertain terms, the Supreme Court held that neither Respondents nor their counsel could contact third-party patients, specifically because the treatment received by third-parties was not relevant or necessary to establish any element of Respondents' actions for medical negligence or fraud,¹⁶ nor were patient interviews necessary to establish any element of an action for violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act. Id., 384 S.C. at 579–80, 683 S.E.2d at 499–500.¹⁷

¹⁴ Hollman v. Woolfson, Op. No. 2009-MO-025 (S.C. S. Ct. filed May 28, 2009) (R. p. 42).

¹⁵ Supp. Order, July 7, 2009 (R. p. 45).

¹⁶ "Whether [TLC] breached the standard of care with any patients other than [R]espondents is irrelevant to whether [TLC was] negligent in [its] treatment of [R]espondents. . . . Whether other patients were similarly treated does not prove any of the elements required to show fraudulent conduct by [TLC] toward [R]espondents." Hollman, 384 S.C. at 579–80, 683 S.E.2d at 499.

¹⁷ The Supreme Court's decision was also based on equitable grounds: "[I]t would [have been] inequitable to allow [R]espondents to obtain non-party patient information from [TLC]

Six months later, on March 17, 2010, Respondents' counsel filed a complaint on behalf of John Hollman and "all others similarly situated" in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina, Greenville Division, naming as defendants dozens of TLC Centers, Clinical Directors, affiliated Surgeons, and Management personnel.¹⁸ The complaint was purportedly brought under the federal civil RICO statute,¹⁹ and it was alleged that each defendant participated personally in a massive conspiracy to conceal unsuccessful LASIK surgeries from patients, who had also allegedly been deprived of certain indeterminable property rights. The allegations of the complaint were based almost exclusively on protected information. Some of the information pertained only to John Hollman; other information pertained to patients who were alleged to be members of the putative class, which was comprised of individuals whose confidential health information was contained in the database.²⁰

with the understanding the patients would not be contacted, only to subsequently permit [R]espondents to contact the patients." Hollman, 384 S.C. at 581, 683 S.E.2d at 500.

¹⁸ Complaint, Hollman v. TLC LASIK Centers et al., C.A. No. 6:10-CV-685 (U.S.D.C., D.S.C.) (R. p. 195) (hereinafter referred to as "the Federal Class Action"). Ultimately, on February 3, 2011, the Federal Class Action was dismissed for failure to state a claim for which relief could be granted, Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), (Order Granting Mots. Dismiss, Feb. 3, 2011 (R. p. 76)), though the case is still pending on appeal.

¹⁹ 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).

²⁰ There is little doubt that the Federal Class Action was an attempt to circumvent the Supreme Court's decision in Hollman, as these were the same individuals who the Supreme Court had expressly prohibited Respondents' counsel from contacting just six months earlier. In fact, to quote Mr. Patrick: "[T]he federal court case is **designed to notify** these [database] patients so that they no longer suffer the irreparable harm that they are suffering. . . ." (Hr'g Tr. 61, July 26, 2010 (R. p. 413) (hereinafter referred to "July 2010 State Tr.") (emphasis added); see also July 2010 State Tr. 4-15, 22-67 (R. pp. 362-419).)

Based on the filing of the Federal Class Action and other conduct which violated the Protective Order,²¹ on April 9, 2010 TLC filed a motion in circuit court for an order and rule to show cause against Respondents and their counsel. However, on May 5, 2010, before a hearing on the motion had been held, TLC entered into an oral settlement agreement of the Hollman state court case with Respondents. The agreement was eventually reduced to writing and formally executed on June 16, 2010.²² In relevant part, the 2010 Settlement Agreement provides as follows:

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