THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-210888

Ex parte TLC Laser Eye Centers (Piedmont/Atlanta) LLC; and
TLC The Laser Center (Institute), Inc., Intervenor Appellants,

In re: John Hollman Respondent

v.

Dr. Jonathan Woolfson, Individually; Dr. Michael A. Campbell,
Individually; Optical Solutions, Inc.; and Optical Solutions of
Bluffton, LLC Defendants.

In re: Danielle Hollman Respondent,

v.

Dr. Jonathan Woolfson, Individually; Dr. Michael A. Campbell,
Individually; Optical Solutions, Inc.; and Optical Solutions of
Bluffton, LLC Defendants.

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

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

Appellant contends the critical issue in this appeal involves “Respondents’ counsel’s compliance with the Protective Order.”²¹ Nothing could be more incorrect. The critical issue in this appeal is Appellant’s disagreement with the circuit court’s interpretation of its own Protective Order and its failure to timely preserve the issue on appeal. Appellant now seeks a ruling from this Court which would be unprecedented. Essentially, Appellant vehemently argues that the circuit court retained subject matter jurisdiction to issue an Order denying Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration, yet then asks this Court to divest the circuit court of the very same jurisdiction. In addition to such a paradoxical request, Appellant seeks a ruling from this Court that would eliminate the circuit court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law upon which the Order is based.

Appellant has crafted an argument to convince this Court that the sole basis for the circuit court’s finding that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over Appellant’s request to issue an Order denying Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration of the August 17, 2010 Order, is the dismissal of the *Hollman* case in May of 2011. However, the circuit court’s August 17th Order (R. pp. 62-68), read in its entirety, clearly takes into account additional and compelling reasons for its ruling. The circuit court’s findings of fact show an appreciation for the totality of the circumstances, including Appellant’s own conduct which ultimately resulted in the Appellant’s failure to preserve the issue for the Court’s consideration. The Court’s conclusion is not only

²¹ Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 1.

consistent with South Carolina law but reflects an accurate view of the underlying facts resulting in its denial of Appellant's motion.

II. Standard of Review

The Respondent concedes this appeal involves questions of law which are to be evaluated under the *de novo* standard of review. However, despite Appellant's desire that this Court decide this case without any particular deference to the decisions of the lower court, the Supreme Court recently discussed at length the *de novo* standard of review in a family court matter and held:

De novo review neither relieves an appellant of demonstrating error nor requires us to ignore the findings of the family court. The presence of *de novo* review and a willingness, after review, to defer to the fact finder should not be viewed as contradictory positions.

Lewis v. Lewis, 392 S.C. 381, 709 S.E.2d 650 (2011).

Appellant next argues that this appeal involves equitable questions and cites *Ex parte Boddie*, 200 S.C. 379, 21 S.E.2d 4 (1942), as standing for the proposition that a motion for an Order and Rule to Show Cause is a question arising in the Court's equitable jurisdiction.²² However, nowhere in the *Boddie* decision does the Court state this proposition. Neither does the *Boddie* Court pass on the applicable standard of review. *Boddie* involved a mortgage foreclosure action during which one of the parties filed a Rule to Show Cause. Simply because the underlying suit was one in equity does not translate into a legal principle that Motion and Order and Rule to Show Cause is an equitable issue. The Motion and Rule to Show Cause in this case does not require this Court to apply a *de novo* standard of review. Any review of the circuit

²² Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 18.

court's ruling on Appellant's Motion and Rule to Show Cause should be considered as an action at law with an abuse of discretion standard.

In an action at law, when a case is tried without a jury, the trial court's findings of fact will be upheld on appeal when they are reasonably supported by the evidence. Stated another way, the trial court's findings of fact will not be disturbed on appeal unless wholly supported by the evidence or unless it clearly appears the findings were influenced or controlled by an error of law. The trial court's findings in such a case are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Butler Contracting, Inc. v. Court Street, LLC*, 369 S.C. 121, 631 S.E.2d 252 (2006).

III. Subject Matter Jurisdiction

A. Appellant's Status As Intervenor is in Dispute

Appellant argues its second filing of the Motion for Sanctions in July 2010 constituted an intervention and was, therefore, the proper mechanism for enforcing its rights.²³ The Appellant makes a conclusory statement that "TLC subsequently *intervened* in *Hollman* for the limited purpose of enforcing the Protective Order". In a footnote purportedly supporting this statement, Appellant references the July 2010 hearing transcript asserting the transcript reflects the circuit court allowing "TLC's intervention and noting Respondents' counsel's consent."²⁴ In addition, the footnote cites the August 17th Order as "confirming TLC's intervention"²⁵ and makes another conclusory statement: "Accordingly, the Court recognized TLC's separate interest in enforcement of the Protective Order." Appellant's conclusions are inaccurate. Appellant first

²³ Nowhere in the Appellant's motion does it refer to itself as an intervenor nor does it refer to Rule 24. In fact, despite its admission that it was not a party when the motion was filed, its motion repeatedly refers to itself as "defendant".

²⁴ Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 20, footnote 60.

²⁵ Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 20, footnote 60.

mischaracterizes the actions of the Court at the hearing as well as Respondents' counsel's "consent". The transcript is clear that at the beginning of the hearing Respondent's counsel immediately raised issues relating to Appellant's status in the case and, on several occasions---including the page cited by Appellant in support of its proposition---that the Appellant has no standing to file the motion since it was a non-party.²⁶ In addition, the mere fact that the circuit court allowed Appellant to proceed with oral argument does not constitute allowing or "confirming" its intervention. Lastly, the Court's Order makes it clear that Appellant's request for modification of the Protective Order was premature and its motion for sanctions was deferred until the conclusion of the case. Contrary to the Appellant's position, the Court never confirmed Appellant's attempt to intervene, and, in fact, the Court's ruling effectively denies Appellant's intervenor status.

B. The Appellant's Own Conduct Resulted in a Failure to Preserve its Rights.

The June 16, 2010, settlement agreement between Appellant and Respondent ended a long and protracted litigation battle involving numerous discovery and procedural issues. At the time the settlement agreement was reached and the case was dismissed with prejudice as to the Appellant, both parties had outstanding motions alleging improper conduct on the part of the other.²⁷ As part of the settlement agreement, both parties agreed to withdraw their motions for sanctions. Despite this agreement, only two weeks later, Appellant, as a non-party, filed the identical motion for sanctions against the Respondent without citing one single act or event which had occurred subsequent to the first filing of the motion for sanctions. Had Respondent

²⁶ See July 26, 2010 State Court transcript (R. pp, 362, 363, 370, 372).

²⁷ Appellant's motion alleged violations of the Protective Order, and Respondent's motion alleged spoliation of evidence by the Appellant.

known Appellant intended to re-file an identical motion for sanctions only days after dismissal of the case against Respondent, Respondent would have refused to settle the case. In response to Appellant's questionable conduct in re-filing the identical motion, Respondent re-filed its Motion for a Protective Order Due to Spoliation of Evidence and, in addition, filed a Motion to Enforce the Settlement Agreement, and to Dismiss Appellant's Motion for Sanctions. The circuit court, upon ruling on the cross-motions, found: 1) Respondent had not violated the unambiguous language of the Protective Order²⁸; 2) Appellant's request to modify the Protective Order was premature; and, 3), the ruling on the cross-motions for sanctions would be deferred until the conclusion of the *Hollman* case.

Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration which was denied by the circuit court (R. pp. 638-649). At that time, the circuit court instructed Respondent to prepare an appropriate Order. Shortly thereafter, Respondent sought permission from the Court to delay the drafting of the proposed Order until receipt of the lengthy hearing transcripts (R. p. 826). Appellant did not object, and the Court granted Respondent's request. In the meantime, Respondent and the remaining parties reached a settlement agreement. Until this point, the facts are largely undisputed. However, Appellant and Respondent have very different views on what occurred next. Since the *Hollman* case was to be ended and dismissed with prejudice, Respondent's counsel contacted Appellant's counsel to notify him of the pending dismissal and discussed several issues, including whether the Order regarding the Motion for Reconsideration needed to be filed since the case would soon end. Respondent's counsel, by letter dated April 20, 2011 (R. pp. 827-828), confirmed the conversation and advised Appellant's counsel that if Appellant still

²⁸ The circuit court found that, pursuant to the clear and unambiguous language of the Protective Order, protected "Confidential Health Information" must include both the health information and the identity of the patient (August 17, 2010, Order, R. pp. 63-64). The Court's finding is addressed in detail in Section V of Respondent's brief.

wanted the Order to be prepared in light of the pending dismissal with prejudice, Respondent's counsel would be willing to do so. However, the letter clearly questions the necessity of filing an Order since the same issues would be taken up in the Dickerson and Luce litigation. In addition, it was Respondent's counsel's understanding that Appellant's counsel agreed with the proposal to handle the discovery issues in the recently filed Dickerson and Luce cases²⁹ thereby filing the databases under seal with the Court pending resolution of the discovery issues. Again, it was Respondent's counsel's understanding that Appellant's counsel agreed with the proposal but would seek consent from his client and get back to Respondent's counsel prior to the consummation of the settlement which would occur within the next week or so.³⁰ The purpose of seeking Appellant's response prior to the dismissal of the case was to ensure that upon such request by Appellant, Respondent could retain the ability to craft a release which would protect the released parties from having to participate in any ongoing dispute between Appellant and Respondent.³¹ Appellant did not respond, and the Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice was filed on May 3, 2011 (R. pp. 537-542). At no time prior to the filing of the Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice did Appellant contact Respondent's counsel and, in fact, Appellant waited four months until August 19, 2011 (R. pp. 831-832), to advise Respondent it, indeed, wanted an Order denying its Motion for Reconsideration.^{32 33}

²⁹ Dickerson and Luce were filed on December 7, 2010.

³⁰ April 20, 2011, Lewis letter to Tate. (R. pp. 827-828).

³¹ Again, Appellant's re-filing of the Motions for Sanctions contained the same captions and civil action numbers of the cases which were dismissed with prejudice.

³² During this four month period, Appellant's Motions to Dismiss in the Dickerson and Luce cases were denied.

In its January 12th Order following Appellant's Motion to Compel Respondent to prepare and file an Order, the circuit court essentially ruled that the dismissal with prejudice of the *Hollman* case on May 2, 2011, ended with finality all pending matters and, therefore, the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over TLC's request to issue an Order in a case which had ended. The Order further held that based on Respondent's counsel's letter of April 20, 2011 (R. pp. 827-828), Appellant had notice that the dismissal with prejudice was imminent, and its failure to advise Respondent's counsel it wanted the Order to be prepared prior to the dismissal of the case resulted in a failure to preserve the issue. Despite Appellant's arguments to the contrary, the April 20th letter clearly advises Appellant's counsel that based on the previous conversation, the attorneys had agreed that the best course of action was to have the discovery issues relating to the database resolved by the circuit court in the *Dickerson* and *Luce* cases.

In light of the settlement, I had called to discuss with you whether we needed to submit a proposed Order to Judge Miller regarding the motion to reconsider you filed several months ago.

I have now received copies of the transcripts from the previous hearings and am prepared to draft a proposed Order **should your client feel it to be necessary considering the fact that this case will be dismissed soon...**As I understand it, you were going to talk with your client about these two issues and **get back to me**. It appears we will receive checks and releases within the next week, and after the execution of the releases and the filing of the Stipulation of Dismissal, we have 60 days in which to return the database.

April 20, 2011, Lewis Letter to Tate. (R. pp. 827-828).

It is clear that the letter memorializes a conversation in which Respondent's counsel asks Appellant's counsel if the Order needs to be prepared in light of the pending dismissal of the

³³ The hearing on Respondent's Motions to Dismiss in the *Dickerson* and *Luce* cases were heard on June 9, 2011 (R. pp. 483-490). The Order denying the motions was filed on September 1, 2011. Appellant filed its Motion to Compel on September 28, 2011 (R. pp. 650-655).

Hollman case and the discovery issues involved in the Dickerson and Luce cases. Despite Appellant's argument that it had no affirmative duty to request that the Order be prepared, Appellant has never offered any evidence or explanation as to why it never responded to Respondent's counsel's simple request until 4 months later. The circuit court found, after a lengthy hearing³⁴, Appellant was aware, based on the prior discussion between counsel, that it had an affirmative duty to request the Order be prepared prior to dismissal or the matter would be ended.³⁵ Further, the Court found there was "no evidence to support defendant's position that it intended the Order to be filed."³⁶ Again, despite Appellant's arguments to the contrary, the evidence begs the question: Why did Appellant wait four months to request the Order be filed?

A reasonable inference to answer that question can be drawn from the events which occurred during the four-month period of silence by Appellant. On April 28, 2011, Appellant filed its motions to dismiss in the Dickerson and Luce cases (R. pp. 1012-1015). The motions were primarily based on statute of limitation and statute of repose defenses. A hearing was held on the motions to dismiss on June 9, 2011 (R. pp. 483-490). By e-mail dated July 1, 2011, Judge Miller advised the parties he was denying all motions and asked the Dickerson and Luce attorneys to prepare a proposed Order.³⁷ On August 18, 2011, Paul Landis, one of the attorneys for Dickerson and Luce, submitted proposed Orders to the Court and copied Appellant's

³⁴ Mr. Lewis, as an officer of the Court, explained in detail to the Court his understanding of the conversation with Appellant's counsel, Mr. Tate, which preceded the April 20, 2011, letter (R. pp. 939-949). It is interesting to note that Mr. Tate was not present at the hearing to give the Court the benefit of his understanding of the conversation and no affidavit was filed to provide the Court with any evidence to contradict Mr. Lewis' statements.

³⁵ January 12, 1012, Order (R. p. 164).

³⁶ January 12, 2012, Order (R. p. 165).

³⁷ July 1, 2011, E-Mail from Judge Miller to all parties. (R. p. 829).

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